COPY

Case No. 2007-^d~~TS~~ 00708-COA

Court Of Appeals Of The State Of Mississippi

CAR/D. Watts
Appellant

FILED

SEP 17 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

vs.

State Of Mississippi
Appellee

Appeal From The Circuit Court Of
Forrest County Mississippi

Appellant's Opening Brief

Oral Argument Not Requested

By: Carl Watts, Appellant, pro-se
CARL D. Watts, #18202
C-Zone, S.C.R.C.F.
1420 Industrial Park Road
Wiggins, MS 39577

September _____, 2007

CARL D. Watts #18202

C-Zone, S. C. R. C. F,

1420 Ind. Pk. Rd.

Wiggins, Ms 39577

Hon. Betty W. Sephton

Supreme Court Clerk

P.O. Box 249

JACKSON, Ms 39205-0249

RE: CARL D. Watts v. State of Mississippi

Statement of Issues

CARL D. WATTS, Appellant pro-se, presents the following contentions as his statement of the issues for this appeal:

Issue One

Whether the trial court committed plain error in violation of the Appellant's constitutional rights to procedural and fundamental due process of law when the trial court judge imposed 7 specific terms and conditions on his 30 year suspended sentence without placing him on probation under the supervision of the M.D.O.C. for a period of time not to exceed 5 years as set out and authorized in sections 47-7-33, -35, and -37.

Issue Two

Whether the 30 year banishment provision (condition G) imposed by the trial court in the Order of Conviction (R0041-44) is statutorily unenforceable pursuant to sections 47-7-35 and -37; and is thereby plain error in violation of the Appellant's state and federal constitutional rights to due process of law, a legal sentence and also his liberty in light of the fact (R0045) Watts is now serving a 30 year term of incarceration for violating the 30 year banishment condition.

Issue Three

Whether the 30 year banishment provision contained in the Order of Conviction is in violation of Watts' constitutional rights under the First, Fifth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

Issue Four

Whether the Appellant's constitutional rights under the First, Fifth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution were violated when the trial court imposed the 30 year banishment provision without articulating on the record the reasons for and/or benefits of said banishment.

Issue Five

Whether Judge Robert B. Helfrich violated sections 47-7-33, -35 and -37; section 177A of the Mississippi State Constitution (1890 as amended); CANNONS 1, 2, 2A, 2B and 3A(1) of the Code of Judicial Conduct of Miss. Judges; AND the Appellant's constitutional rights to procedural and fundamental due process of law; AND thereby had no judicial authority to alter or amend his original sentence

Statement of Case

CARL D. WATTS, Appellant pro-se, presents the following as his statements of the case:

ON September 13, 2005, CARL D. WATTS was indicted for Transfer of Controlled Substance in violation of Section 41-29-139(A)(1), Miss. Code of 1972, AS AMENDED; AND AS A Habitual Offender pursuant to Section 99-19-81, Miss. Code of 1972, AS AMENDED. (R0031-32)

ON November 29, 2005, CARL D. WATTS entered a plea of guilty to the charge of Transfer of Controlled Substance in violation of Miss. Code Ann. s.s. 41-39-139(A) (1972), AS AMENDED AND WAS sentenced to a term of thirty years in the custody of the M.D.O.C.; but the trial court suspended the entire 30 year sentence contingent upon Watt's good behavior AND seven (7) specific conditions. (R0041-44)

ON JANUARY 3, 2006 the State filed a Petition For Revocation Of Suspended Sentence on the grounds that Watts had violated the terms and conditions of his suspended sentence in a material respect by being found in Hattiesburg, Miss. on December 30, 2005. (R0045)

ON JANUARY 6, 2006, IN RESPONSE TO THE AFOREMENTIONED petition the trial court imposed the previously suspended thirty (30) year sentence.

ON September 13, 2006 (R0006) AND ON JANUARY 11, 2007 (R0055) Watts filed motions for post conviction relief.

ON April 12, 2007 the trial court summarily dismissed the aforementioned pleadings for relief. (R0102); in response to the Petition For Writ Of Mandamus filed by Watts. (R0107)

ON April 24, 2007, following the denial of the post conviction relief pleadings, Watts filed a Notice Of Appeal to the Forrest County Circuit Court appealing said decision to the Mississippi Supreme Court. (R0108)

Statement Of Facts

The Appellant hereby states the following facts:

CARL Watts was indicted on September 13, 2005 AS A Habitual Offender pursuant to Section 99-19-81; for T.C.S. in violation of Section 41-29-139 (A)(1); by the grand jury of Forrest County, Mississippi. (R0031-32)

On November 29, 2005 Watts entered a plea of guilty to said charge of Transfer Controlled Substance in the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Mississippi in cause NO. 05-559 CR. The trial court did not sentence Watts as a Habitual Offender. The trial court did sentence Watts to thirty (30) years in the custody of the M.D.O.C.; but the trial court suspended the entire thirty (30) year sentence with said suspension of sentence contingent upon Watts' good behavior and seven (7) specific terms and conditions. Watts was not placed on probation under the supervision of the M. D.O.C and a probation officer. (R041-44)

On January 6, 2006, in response to the State's Petition To Revoke Suspended Sentence filed January 3, 2006 (R0045) the trial court imposed the 30 year sentence for violating one of the 7 specific terms and conditions.

Summary of The Argument

In light of the fact Watts was indicted as a Habitual Offender (R0031), the trial court knew that Watts was not eligible for a suspended sentence and probation pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. S.S. 47-7-33. Johnson v. State, (P39), 925 So. 2d 86, Miss. 2006. Therefore, the trial court fully intended to sentence Watts to a straight 30 year sentence suspended contingent upon

Watts good behavior which would have been a legal sentence pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. S.S. 47-7-33; see Robinson v. State, (P22), 836 So. 2d 747, Miss. 2002; also see Johnson v. State, (P39,) (supra); and thereby Watts does not challenge the trial court's authority under section 47-7-33 to suspend the 30 year sentence. Watts' argument is that the trial court violated his state and federal constitutional rights to procedural and fundamental due process of law when the judge indicated the 30 year sentence suspension was contingent upon 7 specific terms and conditions without placing Watts on probation under the supervision of the M.D.O.C. as required by sections 47-7-35-37. see Robinson v. State (P20.) (supra) and Johnson v. State, (P12) Miss. 2006. Watts further alleges that the banishment condition of his 30 year suspension of sentence can only be imposed pursuant to section 47-7-35, condition G; on probation under the supervision of the M.D.O.C. for a period not to exceed 5 years and that thereby the 30 year banishment provision is statutorily unenforceable pursuant to sections 47-7-35 and 37. Watts also alleges that the 30 year banishment provision is cruel and unusual punishment in violation of his constitutional rights under the First, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution. see Cobb v. State 437 So. 2d 1218, Miss. 1983; Jenkins v. State, No. 95-CA-013784-SCT, Miss. 1997, (R011) and (R056-57)

Issue One

Whether the trial court committed plain error in violation of the Appellant's constitutional rights to procedural and fundamental due process of law when the trial court judge imposed 7 specific terms and conditions on his 30 year suspended sentence without placing him on probation under the supervision of the M.D.O.C. for a period of time not to exceed 5 years as set out and authorized in sections 47-7-33, -35, and -37.

Argument

The trial court, as clearly shown in the Order of Conviction filed November 29, 2005 (R041-044), failed to indicate a statute of statutory state law authorizing the judge to suspend the 30 year sentence with said suspension contingent upon 7 specific terms and conditions without placing the Appellant on probation under the supervision of the M.D.O.C. for a period of time not to exceed 5 years as required by sections 47-7-33, -35, and 37.

In the case of *Tunstall v. State*, No. 97-CA-00252-SCT, Miss. 1998; the Supreme Court held: "Miss. Code Ann. s.s. 47-7-33, which empowers the circuit court to suspend a sentence, reads: Such court shall have the power, after conviction or a plea of guilty, to suspend the imposition

or execution of sentence and place the defendant on probation as herein provided. In placing any defendant on probation, the court, or judge, shall direct that such defendant be under the supervision of the department of corrections. Miss. Code Ann. S.S. 47-7-33 (1993). *Id.* at HN-1. Also, Miss. Code Ann. S.S. 47-7-35 states, 'the courts referred to in S.S. 47-7-33 shall determine the terms and conditions of probation and may, at any time during the period of probation, alter or modify the conditions.' Miss. Code Ann. S.S. 47-7-35. *Id.* at HN-2. Furthermore, in reference to an arrest for a violation of probation, Miss. Code Ann. S.S. 47-7-37 provides in part: The period of probation shall be fixed by the court, and may at any time be extended or terminated by the court, or judge in vacation. Such period with any extension thereof shall not exceed 5 years. "*Id.* at HN-3.

In *Robinson v. State*, (supra), *Id.* at (P20.), Justice Carlson in his concurring opinion cited *Carter v. State*, 754 So 2d 1207, 1210-11, Miss 2000 where the Supreme Court held: "there is a difference between a 'suspended sentence' and 'probation'". In *Carter*, Justice Mills stated in pertinent part: 'A suspended sentence is a sentence which is given formally following the conviction of a crime, but the defendant is not required to serve the sentence at the time the sentence is imposed. Black's Law Dictionary 1446 (6th ed. 1990) The suspension is conditioned upon the good behavior of the →

defendant. Id at 1363. The trial court does have the power to revoke a suspended sentence, and the defendant is not required to report to any officer if his sentence is suspended. However, if a defendant's sentence is suspended upon specific terms and conditions (as set out and authorized in section 47-7-35) he is given probation and released under the supervision of the M.D.O.C. and a probation officer. The defendant must agree to these terms and conditions of probation and any violation of such terms and conditions will subject the defendant to a revocation of probation."

As shown in the Order of Conviction (R041-44), the trial court unambiguously indicated that the Appellants 30 year sentence had been suspended; "upon his good behavior and compliance with the following: (enumerated conditions A thru G)"; but the trial court made no mention that it had thereby placed Watts on probation under the supervision of the M.D.O.C. for a period of time not to exceed 5 years as set out and authorized in sections 47-7-33, -35, -37; and Watt's was thereby seriously prejudiced by the fact that he was subject to the terms and conditions of probation for the entire 30 year suspended sentence in violation of sections 47-7-35 and 37. These contentions are evidenced by the fact that all 7 of the aforementioned terms and conditions imposed by the trial court are set out and authorized in section →

47-7-35; specifically condition F and condition G. in that these 2 conditions can only be imposed upon defendants placed on probation under the supervision of the M.D.O.C. The condition F contained in the Order of Conviction (R-042) reads in pertinent part: "Submit, as provided in Miss. Code Ann. S.S. 47-5-603 (1972) as amended, to any breath, saliva or urine analysis test" . . .

Pursuant to section 47-5-603 (1972) in pertinent part:
"Any offender on probation or released from a facility of the M.D.O.C. on parole or earned probation who remains under the supervision of the M.D.O.C. or any offender who is incarcerated in the custody of the M.D.O.C. may be required to participate in the M.D.O.C. drug identification program." Therefore the condition F imposed by the trial court only applies to offenders under the supervision of the M.D.O.C.

The condition G contained in the Order of Conviction (R-042) reads in pertinent part: "Depart from Hattiesburg, Ms and remain outside a radius of 100 miles from the Forrest County Courthouse situated in Hattiesburg Ms, for the entire period of his suspended sentence." In Jenkins v State, NO. 95-CA-01374- SCT, Miss. 1997 the Supreme Court cited Cobb v State, 437 So. 2d 1218, Miss 1983 and held: "Under section 47-7-35, the terms and conditions of probation may include a requirement that the defendant (condition G.) 'remain within a specified area.'" We (Supreme Court) →

have held this to authorize a trial court to impose banishment as a condition of probation." Therefore, in light of the Aforeshown statutory state law AND the holdings of the Supreme Court in Jenkins (supra) and Cobb (supra) the Appellant would show his contentions that his constitutional rights to fundamental and procedural due process of law were violated when the trial court judge imposed terms and conditions upon the 30 year suspended sentence, specifically condition G and condition F; without placing Watts on probation under the supervision of the M.D.O.C. for a period of time not to exceed 5 years as required by sections 47-7-33, -35, and -37.

In further support of the Aforeshown contentions, Watts would bring to the Court's attention that in Johnson v. State, (supra) on March 23, 2006 the Supreme Court held:

"Generally, the law distinguishes the suspension of a sentence from probation. While both probation AND the suspension of sentence involve the trial court's discretionary AND conditional release of a convict from the service of a sentence within the penal system, a probationary sentence is served under the supervision of probation officers whereas a straight suspended sentence is served without such supervision. Moreover, a "straight suspended sentence" is not subject to the conglomeration of rules that are →

attached to a sentencing order granting probation." Id. at HN-3. Watt's would again bring to the Court's attention that the Order of Conviction filed November 29, 2005, (R041-044) by the trial court, indicates the 30 year sentence suspension was contingent upon his good behavior 'AND' 7 specific terms and conditions, but the trial court made no mention that it had thereby placed Watts on probation for a period of time not to exceed 5 years as required by sections 47-7-33, 35, and 37.

In *Johnson v. State*, (supra) the Supreme Court concluded its opinion by holding: "Today (March 23, 2006) we return the legislatively intended sentencing discretion to our trial courts by clarifying that (1) Miss. Code Ann. Section 47-7-33 prohibits the imposition of a suspended sentence and supervised probation on a prior convicted felon; however this statute does not prohibit the imposition of a suspended sentence, in whole or in part, upon a prior convicted felon, so long as the sentence does not involve a period of supervised probation and does not exceed the maximum penalty statutorily prescribed for the felony committed; (2) when a suspended sentence and supervised probation are properly imposed upon a first-offender under the provisions of section 47-7-33, the period of supervision by the M.D.O.C. is limited to a maximum period of 5 years." Id. at P39.

Therefore, relying on the aforementioned Supreme Court ruling in Johnson v. State, Watts would show the following conditions unto this Court:

(1) - The trial court was fully aware that Watts had been originally indicted as a Habitual Offender (R0031-32) and that as a previously convicted felon Watts was not eligible for a 30 year "suspended sentence and supervised probation" pursuant to section 47-7-33. Therefore, the trial court fully intended to sentence Watts to a 30 year "straight suspended sentence". These conditions are further evidenced (R041-44) by the fact the trial court never indicated that Watts had been placed on probation for a period of time not to exceed 5 years and Watts was not required to report to the M.D.O.C. and/or a probation officer.

(2) - The trial court committed plain error when the judge indicated that the 30 year sentence suspension was contingent upon Watts' "good behavior" and "specific terms and conditions"; without placing Watts on probation under

the supervision of the M.D.O.C. These conditions are further evidenced by the herein shown fact that a of the conditions contained in the Order of Conviction (condition F+G), can only be imposed as conditions of probation and only apply to offenders under the supervision of the M.D.O.C. for a period of time not to exceed 5 years pursuant to sections 47-7-33, 35

and -37.

Therefore, this Court should find that the trial court committed plain error when the judge imposed 7 specific terms and conditions upon the 30 year "straight suspended sentence" without placing Watts on probation under the supervision of the M.D.O.C. as required by sections 47-7-33, 35, and 37; in violation of the Appellant's constitutional rights to procedural and fundamental due process of law; and thereby said terms and conditions contained in the Order of Conviction should be vacated and in light of the fact Watts is now serving a 30 year sentence for violating the 30 year banishment provision contained in condition G, the 30 year straight suspended sentence should be reinstated and Watts' constitutional rights to his liberty should be restored,

Issue Two

Whether the 30 year banishment provision (condition G) imposed by the trial court in the Order of Conviction (R041-44) is statutorily unenforceable, pursuant to sections 47-7-35 and -37; and is thereby plain error in violation of the Appellant's state and federal constitutional rights to due process of law, a legal sentence and also his liberty in light of the fact (R0045) Watts is now serving a 30 year term of incarceration for violating the 30 year banishment condition.

In *Weaver v. State*, 856 So. 2d 407, Miss. Ct. App. 2003; the court cited *Cobb*, 437 So. 2d at 1221 and held: "Banishment is, of itself, a probationary provision pursuant to section 47-7-35." *Id.* at (P17.)

In *Jenkins v. State*, No. 95-CA-01374-SCT, Miss. 1997; the Supreme Court cited *Cobb* (*supra*) and held: "Under section 47-7-35, the terms and conditions of probation may include a requirement that the defendant (condition G.) 'remain within a specified area.' We (supreme court) have held this to authorize a trial court to impose banishment as a condition of probation." *Id.* at 716

The Supreme Court in *Jenkins* (*supra*) also held: "Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. state statute 47-7-37, a trial court judge may impose conditions of probation for a period not to exceed 5 years. Miss. Code Ann. S.S. 47-7-37 provides in pertinent part: The period of probation shall be fixed by the court, and at anytime be extended or terminated by the court. Such period, with any extension thereof, shall not exceed 5 years." *Id.* at HN-7.

In *Weaver v. State*, 764 So. 2d 479, Miss. Ct. App. 2000; *Weaver* entered a guilty plea and was sentenced to 20 years with 15 suspended contingent upon a banishment from a 100 mile radius of a particular city in the state. The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded, holding in pertinent part: "A circuit court

could not have imposed a probationary period that exceeded five years, regardless of the length of the period of incarceration that was suspended, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. S.S. 47-7-37 (1999). "Id. at 764, see overview section.

The Appellant has herein this brief in Issue One demonstrated to this court via the Order of Conviction (R0041-44) and the Petition To Revoke Suspended Sentence (R0045) that he was never placed on probation. Therefore, relying on the aforementioned holdings of Weaver (*supra*) and Jenkins citing Cobb (*supra*), the Appellant would show his contentions unto this Court that the trial court could not impose the banishment provision without placing Watts on probation under the supervision of the M.D.O.C. and to do so was a violation of Watts' state and federal constitutional rights to procedural and fundamental due process of law. Furthermore, these due process constitutional consideration would not have allowed the trial court to revoke the Appellant from probation for violating the terms and conditions of probation without first placing Watts on probation pursuant to section 47-7-37; which reads in pertinent part: (P2.) "At any time 'during the period of probation' the court, or judge in vacation, may issue a warrant for violating any of the conditions of probation or suspension of sentence and cause the probationer to be arrested."

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