FILED

CARL DEWAYNE WATTS

OCT 2 2 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS APPELLANT

NO. 2007-CP-0708-COA

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680 APPELLEE

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

.

STATE STATUTES

Miss.Code Ann. Section 99-19-29
Miss.Code Ann. § 99-39-11 (Supp. 1998)12
Miss.Code Ann. §41-29-139(A)(1)
Miss.Code Ann. §99-19-29
Miss.Code Ann. §99-19-81
Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-23

CARL DEWAYNE WATTS

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is yet another appeal from a trial court's summary denial of post-conviction collateral relief flowing in the wake of a voluntary guilty plea. That plea later precipitated a thirty (30) year banishment from Forrest County after Watts violated the terms and conditions of his suspended sentence.

As one of seven (7) conditions attached to a thirty year (30) year straight suspended sentence, Carl Watts eagerly agreed to stay outside a 100 mile radius of the Forrest County Courthouse in Hattiesburg for the duration of his suspended sentence. Thirty-eight (38) days after receiving his lenient sentence in the wake of a plea-bargain agreement, Watts violated the terms of his suspended sentenced by returning to Forrest County where he was caught.

Following a petition for revocation of suspended sentence filed by the State, the trial court revoked Watts's suspended sentence and ordered him to serve the entire thirty (30) years.

Watts now cries foul, claiming his suspended sentence, which included banishment from the

conviction relief sought in the wake of his guilty plea to the transfer of cocaine entered in the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Robert B. Helfrich, Circuit Judge, presiding. Watts was sentenced by Judge Helfrich to serve thirty (30) years in the custody of the MDOC, provided however, "... it having been made known to the Court that the ends of justice and the best interest of the public and Defendant will be best served, the Court hereby suspends all of said sentence upon Defendant's good behavior and compliance with the following [seven conditions]." (C.P. at 41-42)

Unhappy over the prospect of extended incarceration, Watts filed for post-conviction relief complaining, *inter alia*, his sentence was illegal, his plea involuntary, and his lawyer ineffective.

Post-conviction relief was subsequently denied summarily by Robert B. Helfrich, Circuit Judge. (C.P. at 102-06; appellee's exhibit <u>A</u>, attached)

On appeal to this Court Watts has abandoned his claims his plea was involuntary and his lawyer ineffective. The target of his appellate complaint has been narrowed to the legality of Watts's straight suspended sentence and his subsequent banishment from the county.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Carl Watts is a forty-five (45) year old African American male and prior convicted felon, having been convicted in 1989 of uttering a forgery, in1991 of carrying a concealed weapon as a convicted felon, in1995 of possession of a controlled substance, and in 1998 of receiving stolen property. (C.P. at 31-32, 73-74)

By all appearances, Watts is a criminal entrepreneur.

As a convicted felon four times over, Watts was at risk for enhanced punishment in the event he committed another felony. *See* Miss.Code Ann. §99-19-81 and 83.

February 4, 2005. Watts transfers crack cocaine to a confidential informant. (C.P. at 31) September 13, 2005. Watts is indicted as an habitual offender under §99-19-81 for the transfer of cocaine. (C.P. at 31, 36)

November 29,2005. Watts, in the wake of an eagerly sought after plea bargain negotiated by his lawyer, files a petition to enter plea of guilty and enters a guilty plea to the transfer of crack cocaine in violation of Miss.Code Ann. §41-29-139(A)(1). (C.P. at 34-40)

November 29, 2005. Pursuant to the plea bargain, the charge of recidivism is dropped (C.P. at 33), and Watts is sentenced to serve thirty (30) years in the custody of the MDOC. (C.P. at 41-43) Judge Helfrich suspends all of the thirty (30) year sentence contingent upon Watts's good behavior and compliance with seven (7) conditions, including condition g) which reads, in its entirety, as follows: "Depart from Hattiesburg, Mississippi[,] within forty- eight (48) hours and remain outside a radius or distance of one hundred (100) miles from the Forrest County Courthouse situated in Hattiesburg, Mississippi, for the entire period of his suspended sentence." (C.P. at 42; appellee's exhibit <u>B</u>, attached)

The sentencing order also states in plain and ordinary English that "[t]he violation of any condition of Defendant's suspended sentence shall violate the terms and conditions of the [sic] his suspended sentence, and the Court shall have the authority to revoke the Defendant from his suspended sentence and remand him back into the custody of Mississippi Department of Corrections to serve the entire thirty (30) year sentence." (C.P. at 42-43)

January 3, 2006. The State of Mississippi files a "Petition for Revocation of Suspended Sentence" alleging that Watts "... has violated the terms of his suspended sentence in a material

violation of his suspended sentence. The circuit court finds that Watts violated the terms and conditions of his suspended sentence and enters an order (not in record) revoking Watts's suspended sentence and ordering him to serve the full thirty (30) year sentence. (C.P. at 103)

March 28, 2006. Gay L. Polk-Payton, lawyer for Watts, sends a letter to Watts reminding him, *inter alia*, he was ready to plead. (C.P. at 33; appellee's exhibit C, attached)

A paragraph from that letter is quoted as follows:

I was in court when you pled and the judge went through a series of questions, such as: "If you get caught in this jurisdiction, what will happen?" You said: "I will go to jail for 30 years." He said, "If you commit any crimes anywhere, what will happen?" You said, "I will go to jail for 30 years." He asked you several more questions to make sure that you understood the ramifications of this plea agreement . . . *the plea agreement that you literally begged for.* " [emphasis ours]

September 13, 2006. Watts files, pro se, a "Motion to Vacate Conviction and Sentence,"

claiming his suspended sentence was illegal because he was a prior convicted felon, his banishment

from the county was illegal, his plea was involuntary, and his lawyer ineffective. (C.P. at 6-30)

January 11, 2007. Watts files, pro se, a motion to amend his motion for post conviction

collateral relief. (C.P. at 55-69)

February 16, 2007. Watts files, pro se, a motion for evidentiary hearing. (C.P. at 5, 95-101)

April 12, 2007. Judge Helfrich issues a five (5) page order and opinion treating Watts's papers as a motion for post-conviction collateral relief and summarily denying that motion as plainly or manifestly without merit.

April 24, 2007. Watts filed his notice of appeal. (C.P. at 108)

A petition to enter plea of guilty, signed and initialed in various places by Watts on

A copy of the Petition to Enter Plea of Guilty is a matter of record at C.P. 34-40. A transcript of the plea-qualification hearing is not a part of the appellate record.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A trial judge has the discretionary power to suspend a sentence as well as vacate such suspended sentence based upon conditions which the offender has violated. Johnson v. State, 925 So.2d 86, 93 (Miss. 2006), citing Miss.Code Ann. §99-19-29, and quoting from Carter v. State, 754 So.2d 1207, 1210-11 (Miss. 2000) Mills, J., dissenting).

Judge Helfrich found as a fact "... that the banishment provision herein bears a reasonable relationship to the purposes of the suspended sentence ..." (C.P. at 42) The findings of fact and conclusions of law made by the circuit judge in his 6 page opinion and order are both judicious and correct. *See* **Cobb v. State,** 437 So.2d 1218 (Miss. 1983).

Moreover, assuming the suspended sentence and Watts's banishment from the county were illegal, Watts cannot complain since both were more lenient than Watts was actually entitled to receive. **Myers v. State**, 897 So.2d 198, 201 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004). "It is well established in Mississippi that an individual may not plead guilty to a crime, receive a lesser sentence than what is prescribed by statute, and then use the more lenient sentence as a sword to attack the entire sentence as illegal." **McNickles v. State**, No. 2006-CA-00023-COA decided May 22, 2007, (¶13) (Ct.App. 2007), quoting **Cook v. State**, 910 So.2d 745, 747 (¶10) (Ct.App.Miss. 2005). *See also* **Sweat v. State**, 912 So.2d 458, 461 (¶9) (Miss. 2005).

CONVICTION RELIEF WERE PROPERLY DENIED BECAUSE THEY WERE MANIFESTLY WITHOUT MERIT. WATTS HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE HE IS ENTITLED TO RELIEF.

Watts, in a reasonably well-written 34 page *pro se* brief, invites this Court to vacate his guilty plea, conviction, and sentence as well as any other action taken by the trial court in denying post-conviction relief.

In the alternative, he invites this Court to remand his case for an evidentiary hearing.

Robert Helfrich, Circuit Judge, in a six (6) page opinion and order which addressed several of Watts's claims, summarily denied post-conviction relief.

The findings of fact and conclusions of law made by Judge Helfrich in his opinion and order are both judicious and correct.

Illegal Sentence.

Watts argues his suspended sentence was illegal because he was a prior convicted felon. This ever present argument has been rejected by the Mississippi Supreme Court time and again.

Watts also claims his banishment was inappropriate under prevailing statutes and Mississippi sentencing laws.

A trial judge has the discretionary power to suspend a sentence as well as vacate such suspended sentence based upon conditions which the offender has violated.

In Johnson v. State, supra, 925 So.2d 86, 93 (Miss. 2006), we find the following language:

* * * A suspension of a sentence does not automatically mean that the defendant will be on probation and under a duty to report to a probation officer. It simply means that part of his entire sentence has

Carter, 754 So.2d at 1210-11 (Mills, J., dissenting).

One need go no further than the Mississippi Code to clearly see the distinct nature of probation versus that of a suspended sentence. For example, Miss.Code Ann. Section 99-19-29, which is entitled "Vacation of suspended sentence and annulment of conditional pardon for violation of terms," clearly evinces the distinct nature of a judge's discretionary power to suspend a sentence:

> Whenever any court granting a suspended sentence, or the governor granting a pardon, based on conditions which the offender has violated or failed to observe, shall be convinced by proper showing, of such violation of sentence or pardon, then the governor or the judge of the court granting such suspension of sentence shall be authorized to annul and vacate such suspended sentence or conditional pardon in vacation or court time. The convicted offender shall thereafter be subject to arrest and court sentence service, as if no suspended sentence or conditional pardon had been granted, and shall be required to serve the full term of the original sentence that has not been served. The offender shall be subject, after such action by the court or the governor, to arrest and return to proper authorities as in the case with ordinary escaped prisoner.

Miss.Code. Ann. §99-19-29.

In denying post-conviction relief Judge Helfrich observed that Watts, ". . . after receiving a lenient sentence, [now] wants to attack that same sentence." (C.P. at 104; appellee's exhibit <u>A</u>, attached)

"It is well established in Mississippi that an individual may not plead guilty to a crime, receive a lesser sentence than what is prescribed by statute, and then use the more lenient sentence as a sword to attack the entire sentence as illegal." McNickles v. State, *supra*, No. 458, 461 (¶9) (Miss. 2005).

Our position on this issue is summarized in Sweat v State, supra, 912 So.2d 458, 461

(Miss. 2005), where we find the following language:

We have held generally, where a convicted defendant receives an illegal sentence, the sentence must be vacated and the case remanded to the trial court for re-sentencing because the defendant suffered prejudice. See Robinson v. State, 836 So.2d 747 (Miss. 2002). The Court of Appeals has recently held that there is no prejudice suffered when a defendant receives an illegally lenient sentence. Edwards v. State, 839 So.2d 578, 580-81 (Miss.Ct.App. 2003). Further, when the error benefits the defendant in the form of a more lenient sentence, it is harmless error. Chancellor v. State, 809 So.2d 700, 702 (Miss.Ct.App. 2001). The law which relieves defendants from the burden of an illegal sentence applies to situations where the defendant is forced to suffer a greater sentence rather than the luxury of a lesser sentence. Id. We agree with the Court of Appeals and therefore adopt its approach. Our holding today will not force Sweat to suffer incarceration for a period of time longer than he was legally obligated. * * * * * *

See also Brooks v. State, 919 So.2d 179, 181 (¶7) (Ct.App.Miss. 2005) quoting from Graves v. State, 822 So.2d 1089 (Ct.App. Miss. 2002) ["A defendant should not be allowed to reap the benefits of an illegal sentence, which is lighter than what the legal sentence would have been, and then turn around and attack the legality of the illegal, lighter sentence when it serves his interest to do so."]; Jones v. State, 881 So.2d 351, 353 (¶12) (Ct.App.Miss. 2004) ["(W)e have held that a defendant 'cannot stand mute when he is handed an illegal sentence which is more favorable than what the legal sentence would have been, reap the favorable benefits of that illegal sentence, and later claim to have been prejudiced as a result thereof."

In the case at bar, the sentence imposed was the product of a plea bargain eagerly sought and accepted by Watts with full awareness of the consequences. The State kept its end of the bargain while Watts did not. Under these circumstances, it would seem imprudent to attempt to make the illogical logical by concluding that Watts and his writ-writer were the winners of this debate.

As noted In the cases cited above, this Court has repeatedly held that one must suffer harm and prejudice before he can complain of an alleged error in the law.

Even if the suspended sentence and banishment were inappropriate and improperly lenient under the prevailing statutes, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because it inured to the benefit of Watts.

The following cases are controlling: **Ruff v. State**, 910 So.2d 1160 (Ct.App.Miss. 2005); **Adams v. State**, 841 So.2d 151, 152-53 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002); **Williams v. State**, 802 So.2d 1058, 1060-61 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001); **McGleachie v. State**, 800 So.2d 561, 563 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001), all of which stand for the proposition that one must suffer harm before one can complain of an alleged error in the law.

In Myers v. State, 897 So.2d 198, 201 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004), we find the following language:

In his last issue, Myers argues that, because he had prior felonies, the only legal sentence he could have received was thirty years without parole. Therefore, Myers claims that his sentence was unconstitutional and must be set aside. since it was more lenient than he was actually entitled to receive. We cannot find that he suffered any fundamental unfairness from the illegal sentence, nor can we find his fundamental rights were violated. *Graves [v. State]* 822 So.2d [1089] at ¶8; McGleachie v. *State, 800 So.2d 561 (*¶4) (Miss.Ct.App.2001); *Chancellor v. State,* 809 So.2d 700 (¶8) (Miss.Ct.App.2001). This issue is without merit.

And, in Black v. State, 902 So.2d 612, 614 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004), the Court of

Appeals opined:

* * * This court has previously held that when one receives a suspended sentence, the portion which is suspended acts as a benefit to that individual and therefore does not infringe on the person's fundamental constitutional rights. *Williams*, 802 So.2d at 1060 (¶6). "The law that states that there is a fundamental right to be free from an illegal sentence is interpreted to apply to sentences which cause the defendant to endure an undue burden rather than the luxury of a lesser sentence." *McGleachie v. State*, 800 So.2d 561, 563 (¶4) (Miss.Ct.App.2001).

"If any error occurred, it was harmless error as [Watts] 'benefit[ted] from an improperly lenient sentence." Adams v. State, *supra*, 841 So.2d at 152; Ruff v. State, *supra*, 910 So.2d 1160 (Ct.App.Miss. 2005)[Because 20 year suspended sentence benefitted defendant, he could not be heard to complain.]

Look at it this way. Watts was indicted as an habitual offender and could have been sentenced to a maximum of thirty (30) years of incarceration without the benefit of probation or parole. Confinement for thirty (30) years would be the equivalent of banishment with no for being present within 100 miles of the courthouse. This, we respectfully submit, was a "real meal deal."

Ineffective Assistance of Counsel.

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